RECEIVED

04-20-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP2160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NORRIS W. CULVER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying a Postconviction Motion Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mary Kay Wagner, Presiding.

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > KAITLIN A. LAMB Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1085026

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 lambk@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Does Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2, which criminalizes posting or publishing a "depiction of a person" knowing it is a "private representation" without consent, violate the First Amendment, Due Process, and the Commerce Clause?

The postconviction court answered no.

2. Does Wisconsin's lifetime firearm ban on all felons, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2), violate the Second Amendment for individuals, such as Mr. Culver, who are convicted of a non-violent operating while intoxicated felony?

The postconviction court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is warranted as this case involves two issues of first impression. Undersigned counsel is not aware of any cases addressing the "post or publish" statute, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2, or any cases challenging the lifetime firearm ban statute, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2), by an individual convicted of a non-violent operating while intoxicated felony.

While undersigned counsel anticipates that the parties' briefs will sufficiently address the issues raised, the opportunity to present oral argument is welcomed if this Court would find it helpful.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Mr. Culver was charged with four counts: (1) possession of a firearm by a felon, as repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29(2) & 939.62(1)(b); (2) possession of a firearm by a felon, as repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29(2) & 939.62(1)(b); (3) possession of a firearm by a felon, as a repeater, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.29(2) & 939.62(1)(b); and (4) post or publish a depiction of person knowing it is a private representation without consent, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 942.09(3m)(a)2 & 939.62(1)(a). (1:1-2).¹

According to the criminal complaint, A.A.L. informed police that Mr. Culver had posted nude photos of A.A.L. online without her permission. (1:2-3). A.A.L. also stated that Mr. Culver was a felon and had multiple firearms at his residence. (1:3). Mr. Culver admitted that he posted nude photos of A. A. L. online out of anger. (*Id.*). Mr. Culver also eventually admitted that he had moved guns out of A.A.L's residence to his garage. (*Id.*). Three firearms were located in Mr. Culver's garage.² (*Id.*). The complaint further alleged that Mr. Culver was previously convicted of felony operating while intoxicated (4th offense) in Kenosha County Case No. 12-CF-45. (*Id.*).

On August 7, 2015, Mr. Culver entered a guilty plea to count one, felon in possession of a firearm, and count four, post or publish a depiction of a person knowing it is a private

¹ Unless noted otherwise, all statutes in the brief refer to the statutes in place at the time of the offenses, June 19, 2015. (1:1-2).

 $^{^2}$ Two of the guns were apparently antique long guns and the other gun was a handgun. (38:28, 35, 36, 37).

representation without consent. (37:2, 3-4). The repeater enhancer on each count was struck because a prior felony motor vehicle offense cannot be used as a basis for the enhancer. (*See* 37:9-10). The other two felon in possession of a firearm counts were dismissed on the prosecutor's motion. (37:11).

On September 24, 2015, a sentencing hearing was held. Trial counsel indicated that a text message was discovered from A.A.L. saying "go ahead and post it." (38:5). Mr. Culver declined plea withdrawal. (38:5-11). Pursuant to the plea agreement, the State did not make a specific recommendation. (38:18). The defense requested probation, or alternatively, less than 18 months of initial confinement. (38:31-32).

The Honorable Mary Kay Wagner sentenced Mr. Culver. On the post or publish count, the court imposed 9 months in the House of Correction. On the felon in possession count, the court imposed a 3-year and 3-month prison sentence (15 months of initial confinement and 2 years of extended supervision) to run consecutive. (38:41-42).

Mr. Culver filed a postconviction motion alleging that: (1) the post or publish statute, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m), is facially unconstitutional; and (2) the felon in possession statute, Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2), is unconstitutional as applied to Mr. Culver, who has a felony conviction for operating while intoxicated. (28:1-13).³

³ Mr. Culver also requested sentence modification. (28:13-15). That issue is not being pursued on appeal.

A hearing was held and the Honorable Mary Kay Wagner denied postconviction relief. (33; App. 101).⁴ Regarding the post or publish statute, the court's reasoning was simply as follows:

> I don't believe it's unconstitutional to restrict the posting or publishing of a depiction of a person knowing it's a private representation without that consent. There are good reasons for the law, and the issues that you raise I think can be resolved in other ways and not make it unconstitutional because they exist.

(39:16; App. 117). Regarding the felon in possession statute, the court stated:

The court denies the motion based on the reasonableness test that the law prohibiting felons from possessing a firearm is reasonable and not unreasonable; that it's an indication in this case of prior felonies involving alcohol; that the reasonable – that the State would ban felons in this circumstance from possessing a firearm [sic].

(39:11; App. 112).

⁴ The Attorney General's Office declined to participate in postconviction proceedings. (*See* 30).

ARGUMENT

I. The "Post or Publish" Statute, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2, Violates the First Amendment, the Due Process Clause, and the Commerce Clause.

A. Introduction.

In this case, Mr. Culver was charged with and convicted of one count of the "post or publish" statute, Wis. Stat. \S 942.09(3m)(a)2. The statute provides:

(3m) (a) Except as provided in par. (am), whoever does any of the following is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor:

1. Posts, publishes, or causes to be posted or published, a private representation if the actor knows that the person depicted does not consent to the posting or publication of the private representation.

2. <u>Posts</u>, <u>publishes</u>, or <u>causes</u> to be posted or <u>published</u>, a depiction of a person that he or she knows is a private representation, without the consent of the person depicted.

(b) This subsection does not apply to any of the following:

1. The parent, guardian, or legal custodian of the person depicted if the private representation does not violate s. 948.05 or 948.12 and the posting or publication is not for the purpose of sexual arousal, gratification, humiliation, degradation, or monetary or commercial gain.

2. A law enforcement officer or agent acting in his or her official capacity in connection with the investigation or prosecution of a crime.

3. A person who posts or publishes a private representation that is newsworthy or of public importance.

4. A provider of an interactive computer service, as defined in 47 USC 230 (f) (2), or to an information service or telecommunications service, as defined in 47 USC 153, if the private representation is provided to the interactive computer service, information service, or telecommunications service by a 3rd party.

Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m).⁵

Subsection (1) of 942.09 also provides numerous definitions, including definitions for "private representation" and "post or publish":

(1) In this section:

(ae) "Consent" means words or overt actions by a person who is competent to give informed consent indicating a freely given agreement to the act....

(bg) <u>"Post or publish" includes posting or publishing on</u> a Web site on the Internet, if the Web site may be viewed by the general public.

(bn) "Private representation" means a representation depicting a nude or partially nude person or depicting a person engaging in sexually explicit conduct that is intended by the person depicted in the representation to be captured, viewed, or possessed only by the person who, with the consent of the person depicted, captured the representation or to whom the person depicted

⁵ It is unclear how section (3m)(a)1 and section (3m)(a)2 are different. This brief focuses on section (3m)(a)2, which is the section charged in this case.

directly and intentionally gave possession of the representation.

(c) "Representation" means a photograph, exposed film, motion picture, videotape, recording, other visual or audio representation, or data that represents a visual image or audio recording.

(d) "Sexually explicit conduct" has the meaning given in s. 948.01(7).

Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1) (emphasis added). No definition is provided for "depiction."

As discussed below, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2, is unconstitutional on its face in violation of the First Amendment, Due Process, and the Commerce Clause.

B. Standard of review.

The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Robert T.*, 2008 WI App 22, ¶ 5, 307 Wis. 2d 488, 746 N.W.2d 564.

In a facial challenge, the challenger must show that the law cannot be enforced "under any circumstances." *State v. Wood*, 2010 WI 17, ¶¶ 13, 15, 323 Wis. 2d 321, 780 N.W.2d 63.

C. The "post or publish" statute is overbroad in violation of the First Amendment.

1. Legal principles.

"The First Amendment of the United States Constitution, applicable to the states under the Due Process Clause to the Fourteenth Amendment, provides in pertinent part that 'Congress shall make no law . . . abridging the freedom of speech."" **Robert T.**, 2008 WI App 22, ¶ 6. "Article I, § 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides in pertinent part that '[e]very person may freely speak, write and publish his [or her] sentiments on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of that right, and no laws shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech or of the press."" *Id.* Notwithstanding differences in language between these two constitutional provisions, the Wisconsin Constitution has been construed to provide the same freedoms as the federal constitution. *Id.*

As a general principle, the First Amendment bars the government from dictating what we see or read or speak or hear. Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition, 535 U.S. 234, 245 (2002). However, "[t]he freedom of speech has its limits; it does not embrace certain categories of speech, including defamation, incitement, obscenity, and pornography produced with real children." Id. at 245-246. Yet, "[t]he Constitution gives significant protection from overbroad laws that chill speech within the First Amendment's vast and privileged sphere." Id. at 244. "The overbreadth doctrine prohibits the Government from banning unprotected speech if a substantial amount of protected speech is prohibited or chilled in the process." Id. at 255. "The First Amendment does not permit the imposition of criminal sanctions when doing so would substantially chill protected speech." State v. Weidner, 2000 WI 52, ¶ 35, 235 Wis. 2d 306, 611 N.W.2d 684.

2. Strict scrutiny should be applied.

Statutes generally benefit from a presumption of constitutionality. *State v. Stevenson*, 2000 WI 71, ¶ 10, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 613 N.W.2d 90. However, when, as here, the statute implicates the exercise of First Amendment rights, the

burden shifts to the government to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute passes constitutional muster. *See id.*

The applicable level of scrutiny depends on whether a statute is "content-based" or "content-neutral." Content-based regulations are defined as those that distinguish favored from disfavored speech based on the ideas expressed. *Turner Broad. Sys., Inc., v. FCC*, 512 U.S. 622 (1994). If it is necessary to look at the content of speech in question to determine whether the speaker violated the regulation, then the regulation is content-based. *Gresham v. Peterson*, 225 F.3d 899, 905 (7th Cir. 2000). If not, it is content-neutral.

If a statute is content-based, the statute must withstand strict scrutiny. *State v. Baron*, 2009 WI 58, ¶ 14, 318 Wis. 2d 60, 769 N.W.2d 34. To survive strict scrutiny, the State has the burden to show that the content-based regulation is necessary to serve a compelling state interest and that it is narrowly drawn to achieve that end. *Id.* ¶ 45 (quotation omitted).

If the statute is content-neutral, the statute is subject to intermediate scrutiny. **Baron**, 318 Wis. 2d 60, ¶ 14. To survive intermediate scrutiny, a content-neutral provision must be "narrowly tailored to serve a significant government interest" and "leave open ample alternative channels for communication of the information." **Ward v. Rock Against Racism**, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989).

The content-based nature of this restriction is much like the content-based restriction addressed in *State v. Oatman*, 2015 WI App 76, 365 Wis. 2d 242, 871 N.W.2d 513. In *Oatman*, this Court examined whether Wis. Stat. § 948.14, which prohibits a sex offender from intentionally capturing a representation of any minor without written consent, violated the First Amendment due to overbreadth. This Court held that the restriction was content-based because it only regulates images of children. *Id.* ¶¶ 9-11.

Like in *Oatman*, here, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2 is a content-based regulation because only nude, partially nude, or sexually explicit depictions are regulated. Thus, in the context of a First Amendment challenge, Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2 must survive strict scrutiny.

3. The post or publish statute does not survive strict scrutiny.

Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2 is overly broad and does not survive strict scrutiny. It is not "narrowly tailored" to a "compelling state interest." *Oatman*, 2015 WI App 76, ¶ 45. While statutes of this nature are sometimes referred to as "revenge porn" statutes, this statute encompasses more than revenge porn.

First, the statute makes no distinction between images that are posted or published with malice or wrongful intent, such as revenge or humiliation, and those that are not. See generally **Baron**, 2009 WI 58, ¶ 49 (holding that an identity theft statute survived a First Amendment challenge because it only applies "when one has stolen another person's identity and proceeds to use that identity with the intent to harm the individual's reputation"). For example, if a mother-in-law takes a photo of her son's wife nursing a newborn with consent and then proudly posts it online to share the news of a baby without consent, the mother-in-law could be criminally charged.

Second, the statute does not make any distinction between images that cause harm to the person pictured and images that do not. *See generally State v. Hemmingway*, 2012 WI App 133, ¶ 18, 345 Wis. 2d 297, 825 N.W.2d 303 (holding that the stalking statute was not overbroad because "the core of the statute is the stalker's intent to engage in conduct that he or she knows or should know will cause fear in the victim and does cause the victim's actual distress or fear"). The statute is not limited to images that are recognizable or identifiable. Thus, posting a photo of a person's bare buttock, without any identifying characteristics, such as the person's face or name, constitutes a violation of the statute.

Third, the statute does not provide a definition of the word "depiction." The statute states "[p]osts, publishes, or causes to be posted or published, a *depiction of a person* that he or she knows is a private representation, without the consent of the person depicted." Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2 (emphasis added). Thus, it seems that a "depiction" could encompass a nude sketch, drawing, or cartoon of a person that is posted online. Kaplan v. California, 413 U.S. 115, 119 (1973) (noting that "pictures, films, paintings, drawings, and engravings" are protected by the First Amendment); see also, Douglass v. Hustler Magazine, Inc., 769 F.2d 1128, 1141 (7th Cir. 1985) (noting that "[a]rt, even of the questionable sort represented by erotic photographs in 'provocative' magazines—even of the artless sort represented by 'topless' dancing-today enjoys extensive protection in the name of the First Amendment.").

Fourth, the statute does not provide any limitation on where the "depiction" or "private representation" is captured. As noted above, "depiction of a person" is not defined. "Private representation" is defined as:

> a representation depicting a nude or partially nude person or a person engaging in sexually explicit conduct that is intended by the person depicted in the representation to be captured, viewed, or possessed only

by the person who, with the consent of the person depicted, captured the representation or to whom the person depicted directly and intentionally gave possession of the representation.

Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(bn). Thus, if a person's friend "moons" or shows his buttock in a public park, taking a photo with consent and posting it online could result in criminal liability despite the fact that it happened in public and was plainly visible.

Fifth, the statute's definition of nudity is expansive and includes images that are commonplace, non-obscene, and do not implicate personal privacy interests. For example, "nude" or "partially nude person" includes "any female human being who has less than a fully opaque covering over any portion of a breast below the top of the nipple." Wis. Stat. § 942.08(1)(a); Wis. Stat. § 948.11(1)(d). This criminalizes images of side or bottom views of breasts even if the nipple is fully and opaquely covered. Such depictions are common in swimwear, street fashion, and gowns worn on gala occasions. For example, consider these celebrity photos⁶:



⁶ Photos available at www.dailymail.co.uk/tv/showbiz/article-3032669; www.tvguide.com/galleries/revealing-red-carpet-1083645/6/ Sixth, the statute does not specify a time frame for the requirement that an image be posted or published without consent. What happens if a person gives consent to post a nude photo, the photo is posted, and then the person changes his or her mind? Is the person who posted the photo suddenly criminally liable?

Seventh, the statute indicates it does not apply to a private representation "that is newsworthy or of public importance." It is unclear what "newsworthy" or "of public importance" means. *See generally*, *Time, Inc. v. Regan*, 539 F. Supp. 1371, 1390 (S.D.N.Y. 1982) *aff'd in part, rev'd in part* by *Regan v. Time, Inc.*, 468 U.S. 641 (1984) (stating that "[t]he determination of what is "philatelic, numismatic, educational, historical, or newsworthy' is rife with assumption and opening to varying interpretation"). For example, a few years ago, nude photos of former Packer quarterback Brett Farve circulated the internet from a woman who allegedly received them from him by text.⁷ Could the woman be criminally liable or does a nude photo of Brett Farve qualify as newsworthy?

Lastly, at the postconviction hearing, the State argued, relying on State v. Robins, 2002 WI 65, 253 Wis. 2d 298, 646 N.W.2d 287, that Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2 is constitutional because the statute regulates conduct, not speech. 113). However, Robins is (39:12; App. distinguishable. In Robins, the defendant challenged Wis. Stat. § 948.07 as applied to child enticements initiated over the internet. Robins, 2002 WI 65, ¶ 39. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that the child enticement statute regulates conduct, not speech, explaining:

⁷ See, e.g., "Brett Favre Nude Photos Released," www.newsone.com.

The statute protects against the social evil and grave threat presented by those who lure or attempt to lure children into secluded places, away from the protection of the general public, for illicit sexual or other improper gestures. That an act of child enticement is initiated or carried out in part by means of language does not make the child enticement statute susceptible of First Amendment scrutiny.

[The defendant's] internet conversations and e-mails ... do not by themselves constitute the crime of child enticement. Rather [the defendant's] internet conversation and e-mails are circumstantial evidence of his intent to entice a child, which, combined with his actions in furtherance of that intent, constitute probable cause for the crime of attempted child enticement. That some of the proof in this case consists of internet "speech" does not mean that this prosecution, or another like it, implicates First Amendment rights.

Id. ¶¶ 43-44 (citation omitted). Thus, the child enticement statute regulates conduct because it criminalizes the act of "luring" or "attempting to lure" children. Language or speech is simply a "means" of "luring" the children.

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