RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-19-2017

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2016AP2160-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NORRIS W. CULVER, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR KENOSHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARY KAY WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Culver's fifth argument is that the statute is overbroad because its "definition of nudity is expansive and includes images that are commonplace, non-obscene, and do not implicate personal privacy interests." (Culver's Br. 12.) To illustrate his point, he includes two celebrity photographs from the internet. (*Id.*) These photographs (especially the second one) reveal far more than the ordinary person would willingly show outside of an intimate setting. These images are not "commonplace." Presumably, the women depicted did

not "intend[]" the photographs to be viewed only by specifically designated persons, and did "consent" to them being posted or published on the internet. See Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(bn), (3m)(a)2. That is their choice. And, as long as the publication of such images is intentional and consensual, they are beyond the reach of the statute. These photographs may "not implicate [the] personal privacy interests" of the women depicted. However, most people would feel differently. The statute protects the privacy of those people who, unlike the women depicted on page 12 of Culver's brief, do not want revealing images of their bodies posted on the internet for all to see.

Sixth, Culver worries about the timing of the depicted person's consent under section 940.29(3m)(a)2. What if the person consents but then revokes the consent? (Culver's Br. 13.) Culver fails to explain how this puzzle makes the statute overbroad; thus, the State need not respond to and this Court need not address the argument. See Jones, 257 Wis. 2d 319, n.6. Regardless, the answer to the question is not obscure. Any publication while the consent was in effect would be permissible and not criminal. If and when the consent was revoked, however, the publisher would be required to remove the image from its location on the internet to the extent possible. If a person posted a private representation with the depicted person's consent and the depicted person later withdrew that consent, the poster would be liable only to the extent he knowingly failed to remove the posting after learning that consent had been withdrawn. For any previous posting, he would be immunized by the original consent.

Culver's seventh argument is based on the following statutory limitation: subsection (3m) does not apply to "[a] person who posts or publishes a private representation that is newsworthy or of public importance." Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(b)3. Culver does not know what "newsworthy"

or "public importance" mean. (Culver's Br. 13.) The "public importance" concept is well-known to First Amendment jurisprudence. The supreme court recently "articulated some guiding principles" in this area in Snyder v. Phelps. "Speech deals with matters of public concern when it can 'be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community, or when it is a subject of legitimate news interest; that is, a subject of general interest and of value and concern to the public." 562 U.S. at 453 omitted). quotedin(citations Dumas2013 WI App 152, ¶ 26, 352 Wis. 2d 13, 841 N.W.2d 319; see also Bartnicki v. Vopper, 532 U.S. 514, 534–35 (2001) (collecting cases). Newsworthiness is a similar concept in privacy cases. See, e.g., Bogie v. Rosenberg, 705 F.3d 603, 614 (7th Cir. 2013) (interpreting Wisconsin law).8 Culver wonders whether nude photographs of Brett Favre are "newsworthy" or "of public importance." (Culver's Br. 13.) The State assumes that, despite Favre's fame, they are not.

⁸ In Regan v. Time, Inc., 468 U.S. 641 (1993), the Court held that a statute permitting publication of United States currency only for "philatelic, numismatic, educational, historical, or newsworthy purposes" could not be sustained under the First Amendment "as a valid time, place, and manner regulation because it discriminate[d] on the basis of content." (Emphasis added). The State has located no post-Regan opinion in any court holding that the First Amendment bars the "newsworthiness" defense as impermissible in a civil privacy action or a criminal privacy prosecution. On the contrary, "newsworthiness" generally provides a valid defense or exception in an invasion-of-privacy action. See, e.g., Bogie, 705 F.3d at 614.

Eighth, Culver argues that Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2. regulates speech, and that the State's reliance on *State v. Robins*, 2002 WI 65, 253 Wis. 2d 298, 646 N.W.2d 287, in the circuit court was erroneous. (Culver's Br. 13–15.) The State agrees. However, that does not mean that the statute is overbroad.

Culver has not borne his burden of proving that section 942.09(3m)(a)2. is substantially overbroad. See Hicks, 539 U.S. at 122. Courts have written that "limited examples of [infringement on] potentially protected speech suffice" to prove substantial overbreadth. Matusiewicz, 84 F. Supp. 3d at 367. Similarly, "incidental," "[m]arginal infringement or fanciful hypotheticals that are unlikely to occur" are insufficient. Thiel, 183 Wis. 2d at 534; Stevenson, 236 Wis. 2d 86, ¶ 14. Here, Culver's examples as "limited," "incidental," cannot even be described "marginal," or "fanciful." His arguments are entirely meritless.

The statute is not overbroad.

II. Wisconsin Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2. is not void for vagueness.

A. Legal principles.

The "void for vagueness" doctrine is an aspect of procedural due process. See United States v. Prof'l Air Traffic Controllers Org., 678 F.2d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 1982). The "doctrine rests on the basic due process principle that a law is unconstitutional if its prohibitions are not clearly defined." Hegwood v. City of Eau Claire, 676 F.3d 600, 603 (7th Cir. 2012). A statute may be unconstitutionally vague if it either fails to provide adequate notice of the proscribed conduct, or allows a decision-maker to apply it arbitrarily. State v. Nelson, 2006 WI App 124, ¶¶ 35–37, 294 Wis. 2d 578, 718 N.W.2d 168.

A criminal statute does not provide fair notice "if it does not 'sufficiently warn people who wish to obey the law that their conduct comes near the proscribed area." Nelson, 294 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 36. To survive a vagueness challenge, a statute must define prohibited conduct with sufficient clarity to allow "ordinary people [to] understand what conduct is prohibited." Hegwood, 676 F.3d at 603 (citation omitted). But the statute "need not define with absolute clarity and precision what is and what is not unlawful conduct." Nelson, 294 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 36 (citations omitted). The possibility that the statute's applicability may be uncertain in some situations does not render it void for vagueness. Id.

Alternatively, a statute may be subject to a vagueness challenge if it fails to "establish standards to permit enforcement in a nonarbitrary, nondiscriminatory manner." *Hegwood*, 676 F.3d at 603 (citation omitted). A statute is vague "if a trier of fact must apply its own standards of culpability rather than those set out in the statute." *Nelson*, 294 Wis. 2d 578, ¶ 37 (citation omitted).

A statute is not unconstitutional merely "because the boundaries of the prohibited conduct are somewhat hazy." State v. McCoy, 143 Wis. 2d 274, 286, 421 N.W.2d 107 (1988) (citation omitted). Justice Holmes famously noted that the law sometimes requires individuals to assume the risk that their conduct may cross the line from permissible to prosecutable. While the "precise course of the line may be uncertain, . . . no one can come near it without knowing that he does so." United States v. Wurzbach, 280 U.S. 396, 399 (1930). Thus, "it is familiar to the criminal law to make him take the risk." Id.

A statute that provides reasonable notice of the conduct prohibited by its terms is not void for vagueness.

B. Analysis.

Section 942.09(3m)(a)2. is not void for vagueness. Its prohibitions are clear and well-defined and provide sufficient notice to an individual that his conduct violates the law. Moreover, it does not leave room for arbitrary enforcement.

The provision prohibits the direct or indirect⁹ posting or publication of a depiction of a person that the actor knows is a "private representation" of the person without the person's consent. An earlier provision in the statute clearly defines "[p]ost or publish" as including posting or publication the internet. Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(bg). "Private representation" is also clearly defined. The definition has two important elements. First, the representation depicts "a nude or partially nude person" or "a person engaging in sexually explicit conduct." Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(bn). Second, the depiction was intended by the person depicted "to be captured, viewed, or possessed only by the person who, with consent of the person depicted, captured representation or to whom the person depicted directly and intentionally gave possession of the representation." Id.

There is nothing ambiguous about this statute. It is directed exclusively at depictions of persons who are nude, semi-nude, or engaging in sexually explicit conduct. It contains several layers of consent, intent, and knowledge. First, the "private representation" definition limits the audience that may "capture], view], or possess[]" the depiction to the audience intentionally chosen ("intended") by the person depicted. Wis. Stat. § 942.09(1)(bn). Second, that intended audience consists only of a person who

⁹ The statute is directed at one who posts or publishes or "causes to be posted or published" a private representation without consent. Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2.

"captured the [person's] representation" with her "consent," or persons to whom the depicted person "directly and intentionally gave possession of the representation." Id. Third, the prohibition against posting and publishing private representations requires proof that the defendant "knows" that the depiction is a private representation. Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2. Finally, the posting or publication of the private representation is criminal only if performed "without the consent of the person depicted." Id.

Culver's attempts to show that the statute is void for vagueness are unavailing.

First, Culver points to one of the exceptions to the post-or-publish prohibitions: "a private representation that is newsworthy or of public importance." Wis. Stat. § 942.09(3m)(b)3. He contends that these terms do not have clear meanings. The claim is untenable as the State has already shown. See supra at 23–24.

Second, Culver argues that the statute is vague because "it does not specify a time frame for the requirement that an image be posted or published without consent." (Culver's Br. 16.) This argument is both undeveloped and unsupported by legal authority. For that reason, the State need not respond to and this Court need not address the argument. See Jones, 257 Wis. 2d 319, n.6. Furthermore, the State has already responded to this argument in a slightly different context and shown that it is meritless. See supra at 22–23.

Third, Culver argues that "the statute does not define the [geographical] parameters of the offense that will subject a person to Wisconsin's criminal jurisdiction." (Culver's Br. 16.) He wonders whether jurisdiction could be determined by the citizenship or location of the depicted person, the place the image is disclosed, or the place it is viewed. The statute criminalizes unconsented posting or publishing of a "private representation." It is that act (or causing another person to commit that act) that forms the basis for criminal liability. Thus, "the place where the restricted image was disclosed" (Culver's Br. 16) will give Wisconsin courts jurisdiction if the disclosure was in Wisconsin. See Wis. Stat. § 939.03. However, a depicted person's citizenship or location or the place that some third party views the image are irrelevant to the jurisdictional question because these factors are distinct from any act of posting or publishing. Only the posting and publishing are proscribed by the statute.

The statute is not void for vagueness.

III. Wisconsin Stat. § 942.09(3m)(a)2. does not violate the dormant Commerce Clause.

A. Legal principles.

The United States Congress has the power to "regulate Commerce . . . among the several States." U.S. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 3. "Although the Clause is framed as a positive grant of power to Congress, '[the Supreme Court] has consistently held this language to contain a further, negative command, known as the dormant Commerce Clause, prohibiting certain state [legislation] even when Congress has failed to legislate on the subject." Comptroller of the Treasury of Md. v. Wynne, 135 S. Ct. 1787, 1794 (2015) (citation omitted). The dormant Commerce Clause prohibits states from enacting "protectionist" legislation. E.g., Northwest Airlines, Inc., 293 Wis. 2d 202, ¶ 27.

Only parties that have been directly injured by allegedly discriminatory legislation—i.e., out-of-state actors engaged in interstate commerce—have standing to challenge

a statute on dormant Commerce Clause grounds. See, e.g., Cibolo Waste, Inc. v. City of San Antonio, 718 F.3d 469, 475–76 (5th Cir. 2013); Com. v. Rose, 960 A.2d 149, 153 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2008). Only statutes that actually affect commerce—i.e., "objects of interstate trade"—are subject to review under the dormant Commerce Clause. See City of Philadelphia v. N.J., 437 U.S. 617, 621–22 (1978). Only "legitimate commerce"—business that is legally sanctioned by statutory or constitutional law—is entitled to protection under the dormant Commerce Clause. State v. Backlund, 672 N.W.2d 431, 438 (N.D. 2003) (emphasis added); see also Simmons v. State, 944 So. 2d 317, 333 (Fla. 2006): State v. Hantz, 311 P.3d 800, 805–06 (Mont. 2013).

A statute may be found invalid under the Clause for one of two reasons. First, a state statute that directly regulates or discriminates against interstate commerce or out-of-state actors almost always violates the dormant Commerce Clause. See, e.g., City of Philadelphia, 437 U.S. at 624. Second, a facially neutral statute may violate the Clause, but only if it burdens interstate commerce. See, e.g., Brown-Forman Distillers Corp. v. N.Y. State Liquor Auth., 476 U.S. 573, 579 (1986).

The supreme court spelled out the test for determining when a facially neutral statute unconstitutionally burdens interstate commerce in *Pike v. Bruce Church, Inc.*, 397 U.S. 137, 142 (1970). First, does the statute regulate instate and out-of-state commerce "even-handedly"? *Id.* Second, is the "local public interest" underlying the statute "legitimate"? *Id.* Third, are the statute's effects on interstate commerce "only incidental"? *Id.* Finally, is "the burden imposed on such commerce . . . clearly excessive in relation to the putative local benefits"? *Id.* "[T]he extent of the burden that will be tolerated will . . . depend on the nature of the local interest involved, and whether it could be promoted as well with a lesser impact on interstate activities." *Id.*

A statute may also be found invalid under the Clause if it "adversely affect[s] interstate commerce by subjecting [targeted] activities to inconsistent regulations" in different jurisdictions. CTS Corp. v. Dynamics Corp. of America, 481 U.S. 69, 88 (1987).

The burden is on the party challenging the statute to prove that the statute violates the Clause. See, e.g., Alliance of Auto. Mfrs. v. Gwadosky, 430 F.3d 30, 40 (1st Cir. 2005).

B. Analysis.

This Court should not reach the merits of Culver's dormant Commerce Clause argument because he does not have standing to raise it. His argument is premised on the notion that section 942.09(3m)(a)2. burdens an out-of-state actor's freedom to engage in interstate commerce. But Culver is neither an out-of-state actor nor engaged in interstate commerce. Therefore, he lacks standing to challenge the statute on dormant Commerce Clause grounds. See Cibolo Waste, Inc., 718 F.3d at 475-76; Rose, 960 A.2d at 153. Perhaps Culver believes that he can challenge the statute on overbreadth grounds. (Culver's Br. 18–19.) But he cites no legal authority permitting the use of the overbreadth doctrine in a dormant Commerce Clause case (and the State has found none). Given Culver's failure to supply supporting legal authority, this Court should give the issue no further consideration. See Jones, 257 Wis. 2d 319, n.6.

The argument also fails on the merits. Section 942.09(3m)(a)2. does not violate the dormant Commerce Clause. The statute clears every hurdle in the governing analysis.

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